#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES CHRISTOPHER WHITE,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC02-2277

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS H. DUFFY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 470325

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4595 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

RICHARD L. POLIN
MIAMI BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL
APPEALS
Florida Bar No. 0230987

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (305) 377-5655 (FAX)

## COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appelllee in the First District Court of Appeal and the Petitioner in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, or the State. Respondent, James Christopher White, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the respondent in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of six volumes, one main volume of record and five volumes of transcript which are not separately numbered by volume, but are sequentially numbered by page. They which will be abbreviated "Tr." with the volume number in parentheses and the page number(s) following.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State filed a petition to commit Respondent as a sexually violent predator (SVP) pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act (Part V, Chapter 394, Florida Statutes) on July 29, 1999. I, 52-53.

The case proceeded to trial on September 11, 14-15, 2000 in Bay County. At that trial the following testimony was taken.

Chris Palmer Robison, a psychologist, testified that he had conducted an examination of Respondent on June 28, 1999, while Respondent was incarcerated at Century Correctional Institution. Tr. (2), 135. He was accompanied by Dr. Jeffrey Benoit. Tr. (2), 135.

#### Dr. Robison testified as follows:

Prior to the interview, he and Dr. Benoit reviewed records compiled by the Department of Corrections concerning Respondent, which included mental health evaluations, his offense history, his incarceration history, any disciplinary reports he had received while incarcerated, a victim statement, emergency room reports concerning a sexual battery Respondent had committed on the victim, statement from a mental health experts and an arrest report. Tr. (2), 135-137.

Respondent reported to him and Dr. Benoit that he had been sexually abused by his uncle from age 4 and by his father from approximately the same time, and that this abuse continued for 12 years. Tr. (2), 142. He also reported physical abuse by his older brothers, and that his father was an alcoholic who abused his mother physically, and who gave Respondent alcohol and marijuana "to subdue him for his sexual activities." Tr. (2), 143. Respondent had been on suicide watch while in the Bay County Jail in 1993, and had referred himself to the Life Management Center in 1994. Tr. (2) 146. He was diagnosed by DOC with impulse control disorder, which "describes an individual who behaves impulsively without forethought and then is real sorry about it and keeps doing it again and again, just has deficient impulse control." Tr. (2), 146-147. DOC records "said basically he enjoyed or gained pleasure from sex with a nonconsenting partner, essentially rape, he enjoyed rape." Tr. (2), 149.

Respondent told Drs. Robison and Benoit "that when he realized what he was doing at what ever point that he knew it was wrong and tried to stop and couldn't do it." Tr. (2) 164. "[T]here was that indication of poor behavioral control or that he was out of control and needed help." Tr. (2), 164.

Respondent "seems to have coupled in his mind sex and aggression, first of all. When he thinks of sex it is associated with aggression." Tr. (2), 164. Respondent's personalty showed "a severe neurotic pattern," and he appeared "self oriented, selfish and kind of narcistic [sic]. He acts impulsively and shows poor judgment and has a low tolerance for frustration." Tr. (2), 166. Respondent has "a severe personality disorder." Tr. (2) 167.

Based on the interview and the information available to the doctors at that time, Respondent was diagnosed as having a severe personality disorder ("one of those that significantly deviates from social expectations"), not otherwise specified. Tr. (2) 167-168. He could not find evidence of a "childhood conduct disorder" and therefore could not diagnose Respondent with antisocial personality disorder. Tr. (2), 168. He could not, at the time of the interview, diagnose a "paraphilia," or "sexual deviance." Tr. (2), 168. He said his impression at the time of the interview was that Respondent's "risk for reoffense was such that he presented a menace . . . to the health and welfare of the community, safety and welfare of the community." Tr. (2) 169-170. He elaborated:

[I]n that assessment of likelihood reoffense we looked very strongly at severely ill this man seems to be. literature tells us that that is a strong contributing factor. Severe pathology, severe deviance is a strong factor consideration of likelihood for reoffense. If someone, to give you an example, maybe two different people commit the same crime but one of them is more of an antisocial person that has sort of a disregard for the law, he's about to go out and do anything he wants he thinks he can get away with. He gets slapped hard, thrown in jail and realizes if he does it again he is not likely to see day light [sic] any time soon. His likelihood for going out doing that again is not the same as someone who is doing it from a point of mental illness through which he is compelled, almost, to do that to satisfy his needs.

#### Tr. (2), 171.

After the interview, Dr. Robison received other information, primarily in the form of interviews with Alison Mears and Susan Stokes, both of whom had been victimized by Respondent. Tr. (2), 172. From their descriptions, Dr. Robison was able to diagnose Respondent as suffering from sexual sadism. Tr. (2), 173, 175. He also reviewed some mental health notes and other statements Respondent had made in which he described raping Ms. Mears and having "fantasies of getting ten black men to rape her." Tr. (2), 178. He also reported penetrating her with an axe handle. Tr. (2), 178.

Dr. Robison used some "actuarial instruments" to help inform his diagnosis, the RRASOR and the MnSOST, and, based on those results and his clinical judgment Respondent had a mental abnormality or personality disorder and the paraphilia of sexual

sadism and that "the likelihood for reoffense is great." Tr. (2), 199-200. Dr. Karen Parker, clinical director for Florida's Sexually Violent Predator Program, was called as the next State witness. Tr. (3), 233. She testified as follows:

She reviewed the evaluation reports, Department of Correction reports, files and other information regarding Respondent, which included reports by Dr. Benoit and Dr. Hodges, and determined that there was "a discrepancy" between Dr. Benoit's report and that of Dr. Hodges. Tr. (3), 245-246. Thus, she reviewed the files on Respondent in order to determine if a recommendation for commitment should be made. Tr. (3), 239-240; 246.

She noted that Respondent had been a "supervision failure," in that he had relapsed after receiving outpatient treatment. Tr. (3), 247. She also noted "sadistic features and sadism." Tr. (3) 247. She continued:

[0]ne of the things we know about sadism, unlike others, say, exhibitionism, sadism tends to escalate. It doesn't tend to stay the same. And when I looked at this particular case I even saw an example of that because the first incident was with an intimate person, somebody he had lived with and he tried to stop and he actually signed a contract but was unable to, and, of course, she left the relationship. What concerned me for the second target or second victim was that, again, it was a disabled woman and it was somebody who was an acquaintance, this was not somebody that you were married to, lived with, had children with. This was somebody you met on a very casual basis and that, in our business, it can actually say that the victim pool is becoming wider and that's always a concern to us.

Tr. (3), 248. Respondent is likely to commit an act of sexual violence, in her opinion, and the next victim would be "[s]omebody he met casually, a woman." Tr. (3), 249.

The fact that both Respondent's victims were handicapped also was relevant, in her opinion, "because domination is a key element in that." Tr. (3), 249.

In her opinion, Respondent suffers from paraphilia, not otherwise specified, which is "a category of diagnoses for somebody who has deviant sexual behaviors, attitudes or fantasies, but they include different elements of the other diagnoses." Tr. (3), 251. In her opinion he is likely to commit an act of sexual violence if he is not given in-patient care, control and treatment,

especially since he did have outpatient intervention and in all the materials that I've read there was a real desire to get help. This is not somebody who says I'm not doing anything wrong, this is somebody who said I'm doing something wrong and I can't control it.

Tr. (3), 252.

Pam Barr testified that she had met Appellee in 1993 when he and his fiancé, Ms. Mears, came to her at the Domestic Violence Counseling Office. Tr. (3), 301. She further testified:

I remember him very well. I remember him coming into the office saying that he wanted help. I remember him coming in with Alison Mears who at that time was his fiancé and their small daughter who may have been about 8 or 9 months old. They had come in and she said that her fiancé had been raping her and that she cared a lot about him and she wanted to stay with him and that they wanted to work this out and he wanted to come in with her so he did.

Tr. (3) 302-303. She said she asked Respondent if he had been raping Ms. Mears and he said he "absolutely had been raping her and he seemed to enjoy it very much." Tr. (3) 303. Respondent also told her "he had fantasies of having Allison raped by ten black men," and that "he liked putting things inside her and talked about the time he was at the motel and tied Allison up to the bed and raped her with an ax handle." Tr. (3), 304. Her notes were introduced into evidence, and she read them aloud, including the following sentences. "He's now raping his fiancé. He knows it's wrong. . . . He's having difficulty controlling his anger and aggressions." Tr. (3), 315.

Jack Howell, Jr. testified that he is a master level counsel for the Life Management Center of Northwestern Florida, and in 1995, as a forensic specialist, he spoke several times with Respondent, who was in the Bay County Jail at the time. Tr. (3), 317-319. Respondent told him that he had tried to get admitted to Rivendell, a psychiatric hospital, "because he felt like he was out of control and needed help." Tr. (3), 321.

Paul Vecker, an investigator with the Bay County Sheriff's Office, said that he took a taped statement from Respondent in 1993, which statement was played for the jury. Tr. (3), 327-332. In the statement Respondent admitted having told Ms. Mears that he would kill her and their baby "if [she] didn't do what I said" and that he had raped her. Tr. (3), 337. Asked why he raped her, he replied: "It's like I said, there is times when, like, I'm not myself and the times that I'm not myself is when

it happens." Vecker asked: "But you know what you're doing?" and Respondent answered "Not until after it happens or it's already happening," and elaborated: "[I]t's not, not like I grab ahold of her and throw her down and when I get to that point I know what I'm doing, it's like when I'm almost done I know what I'm doing and it's like I'm ashamed of what I do because I love her and that's not supposed to happen when you love somebody . . . . . "Tr. (3), 338-339.

Julia Patterson, an emergency services screener at Life Management Center in Panama City, said she evaluated Respondent for in-patient treatment in 1994, at which time he acknowledged that before the end of his relationship with his ex-girlfriend (Ms. Mears) "he was raping her regularly" and that "he was able to recognize his behavior being outside social norms but feels he has changed." Tr. (4), 349-355.

Daniel Kitzerow, a licensed marriage and family therapist and certified sex therapist, testified that he had treated Respondent on eleven occasions between September 13, 1993, and May 18, 1994, and that Respondent canceled or broke appointments 14 times during that period. Tr. (4), 358-365. He testified that Respondent told him that he had molested his daughter, 20 months in age at the time, believing he may have done it to hurt his "ex-wife" (Ms. Mears). Tr. (4) 372, 376. He also said Respondent told him "he is concerned because he enjoys it a little when his wife acts afraid of him." Tr. (4), 374.

The State next called Panama City Police Department Commander Joe Hall, who, as a detective, had investigated Respondent's 1995 sexual battery of Susan Stokes. Tr. (4), 382-392. Reading from a transcript of a recorded statement he had taken from Respondent, he testified that Respondent stated that the sexual encounter between himself and Ms. Stokes had been consensual, but consent to the first episode of intercourse had been tacit, rather than explicit. Tr. (4), 393-398. Realizing, after the second episode, that he had not received express consent, he "started panicking" and "tied her to the bed so I could have a few minutes to calm down." Tr. (4), 398. He said she wasn't screaming because "I had her gagged." Tr. (4), 399. He kept her tied for about 30 minutes, after which he untied her and "[w]e sat there and talked for a good long while, I told her, you know, I told her that I was going to go down to Rivendell because I thought that I had raped her and I needed help getting straight." Tr. (4), 399.

Hall identified Plaintiff's exhibit 13 as consisting of judgments and sentences against Respondent for two counts of aggravated assault by threat in 1999 and for sexual battery and false imprisonment in 1995. Tr. (4), 409-410.

Next, the State called the Rev. Steven Patrick Gregg, a Methodist minister who worked as a mental health counselor for Life Management Center in 1995. Tr. (4) 414-415. He testified that he interviewed Respondent at the center after the sexual battery on Susan Stokes had been committed, and that Respondent

told him he was "euphoric" on some sort of medication and did not know he was sexually assaulting Ms. Stokes until he already had begun having intercourse with her, that the second episode of intercourse was consensual, and that afterwards he "hog-tied and gagged her" (his words). Tr. (4), 419-425.

Susan Stokes testified next. She said she was partly paralyzed on her right side due to a brain aneurism that she suffered 17 years prior, when she was 22 years old; the aneurism affected her speech and gait, and her right arm is in a nearly fixed position. Tr. (4) 426-428, 431.

She said she knew Respondent casually; he worked at a restaurant she sometimes patronized, and that she had known him for about four months prior to the attack in 1995. Tr. (4) 429-430. They had never been intimate. Tr. (4), 430-431. On the night in question, May 26, 1995, Respondent came to her house and asked if she wanted to go to a movie or to shoot pool. Tr. (4) 432. She wanted to go to a movie, but beforehand they went to his house because he said he had to change clothes. Tr. (4), 432-433. After he changed, and they were about to leave, Respondent grabbed her from behind, placed a rag over her mouth, took her into his bedroom, took her clothes off, tied her up, and raped her, vaginally and anally "over and over and over." Tr. (4), 433-437, 441. She said Respondent held her neck and turned it and threatened to keep turning it until it popped and killed her. Tr. (4), 438.

Respondent allowed her to put her clothes back on, but tied her up again and left the house for a period of time; when he came back they talked and he eventually untied her after about four to five hours. Tr. (4), 441-442, 444. She then drove him to the Rivendell mental health facility, where he went inside while she remained in the car; while she waited, someone from that facility came out to the car and she said she had been raped. Tr. (4), 442-443. She was taken to the hospital and Respondent was sent to Life Management. Tr. (4), 443. Ms. Stokes testified that Respondent was sexually aroused by her fear, and that he showed her a picture of his daughter, saying that when she was older, he would molest her. Tr. (4), 444-445.

The State rested; Respondent moved for a directed verdict, which was denied. Tr. (4), 456-460.

The court then took up respondent's proposed jury instruction, which Respondent's counsel argued should add an "extra element" to the standard instruction that "he's unable to control his dangerous behavior . . . " Tr. (4), 463. The trial court denied the motion. Tr. (4), 465.

Dr. John Hodges was the first witness in Respondent's case in chief. He testified that he also reviewed Respondent's court, prison and treatment records, completed two actuarial instruments based on Respondent's history, and conducted an interview with him while he was imprisoned. Tr. (5), 490-492. He reached a diagnosis of intermittent explosive disorder, post traumatic stress disorder and sexual abuse of an adult (i.e.,

the sexual battery convictions in the Susan Stokes case). Tr. (5), 510-511. His opinion was that Respondent did not meet the criteria for civil commitment. Tr. (5), 513. On cross-examination, Dr. Hodges said his diagnoses would not qualify as mental abnormalities under the definition in Florida Statutes. Tr. (5).

Respondent took the stand next. He denied ever having told Mr. Kitzerow that he had molested his daughter, admitted threatening Ms. Mears and his daughter, and he denied ever raping Ms. Mears, though he said that at one time he thought that their consensual sexual activity was rape; he denied ever inserting any foreign object into her. Tr. (5) 564, 568-570, 572-575. He acknowledged raping Susan Stokes, an act for which he said he had "no justification." Tr. (5), 575.

On cross-examination Respondent testified that he had refused treatment after being detained pursuant to this case because the state attorney would have access to any treatment records and because the treatment did not guarantee that he would be reintegrated into society. Tr. (5), 580-581, 583. He denied ever showing a photograph of his daughter to Susan Stokes on the night he raped her, or saying that he would molest her. Tr. (5), 588-589. He said he did not know why he raped Susan Stokes and acknowledged raping her anally. Tr. (5), 590. He said that after the first episode of rape he propositioned Ms. Stokes, who consented, but he now considers that "a second rape." Tr. (5), 591.

After the respondent's case closed, the State called Dr. Benoit as a rebuttal witness. He testified that:

James White is a severely disturbed young man. He has a severe personality disorder that is an enduring pattern of chronic pattern [sic] and that that personality disorder will manifest itself in another sexual reoffense. I think he is an extreme danger to the community and very likely to reoffend, not more likely than not, I mean, extremely likely.

Tr. (5), 609-610.

Respondent renewed his motions for directed verdict, which again were denied. Tr. (5), 617. After closing arguments, the jury was instructed, in part, as follows.

To prove the Respondent, James Christopher White, is a sexually violent predator the state must prove each of the following three elements by clear and convincing evidence.

Number one, James Christopher White has been convicted of a sexually violent offense. And number two, James Christopher White suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder. And number three, the mental abnormality or personality disorder makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secured facility for long term control, care and treatment.

Tr. (5), 675.

The jury retired to deliberate at 6:50 p.m. and returned at 7:28 p.m. with a unanimous verdict that Respondent is a sexually violent predator for civil commitment. Tr. (5), 683-684.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court misread the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407 (2002). Crane and its predecessor case Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997), establish that the concept of "serious difficulty controlling sexually violent behavior" is already encompassed within the statutory elements of the sexually violent predators act. Thus, the standard jury instructions read in this case, which track the statutory elements, are sufficient without adding any additional language, as the lower court would do.

The statutory elements have a built-in causal connection between the sort of mental condition necessary for commitment and the future acts of sexual violence, as the mental condition must make the person likely to commit recidivist acts of sexual violence. The statutory terms in the act, taken together, require proof of serious difficulty controlling sexually violent behavior, even if that precise phrase is not used.

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