# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:		
Petitioner,	:		
v.	:	CASE NO.	SC02-2277
JAMES C. WHITE,	:		
Respondent.	:		
	/		

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT S. FRIEDMAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0500674 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

#

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

As Petitioner correctly points out, because the issue presented in this appeal is strictly a legal one, the standard of review is de novo.

In the instant case, Respondent requested that the trial court instruct the jury that before they could commit Respondent they must find that Respondent was unable to control his behavior. The trial court denied Respondent's proposed jury instruction. (R 218-219, R 461-465). The First District reversed and correctly held Respondent was entitled to a jury instruction as to an essential element of proof that he had serious difficulty in controlling his behavior. White v. State, 826 So. 2d 1043 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2002).

In <u>Kansas v. Hendricks</u>, 521 U.S. 346 (1997), the U.S. Supreme Court held that to commit a person as a sexually violent predator, the State must prove the existence of a mental disorder that so impairs the volitional control of a Respondent as to render him unable to control his dangerous behavior. The State must not only prove that the mental disorder exists, but

also that it is the mental disorder that makes a Respondent unable to control his behavior.

The Florida statute under which the State sought to commit Respondent is nearly identical in operative part to the Kansas statute considered in <u>Hendricks</u>. The Florida statute provides:

"Sexually violent predator" means any person who:

- (a) Has been convicted of a sexually violent offense; and
- (b) Suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.

§ 394.912(10), Fla. Stat. (1999).

"Mental abnormality" means a mental condition affecting a person's emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to commit sexually violent offenses.

§ 394.912(5), Fla. Stat. (1999).

"Personality Disorder" is not defined in the relevant Florida statutes.

"Likely to engage in acts of sexual violence" means the person's propensity to commit acts of sexual violence is of such a degree as to pose a menace to the health and safety of others.

§ 394.912(4), Fla. Stat. (1999).

In <u>Standard Jury Instructions - Criminal Cases (99-2)</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S476 (Fla. June 15, 2000), this Court issued certain standard jury instructions for use in cases brought pursuant to §§ 394.910-394.931, Fla. Stat. (1999). Instruction number 2.02, Statement of Case, provides as follows:

This is a civil case filed by the petitioner, the State of Florida, against the respondent. The State alleges the respondent is a sexually violent predator and should be confined in a secure facility for longterm control, care, and treatment. To prove the respondent is a sexually violent predator, the State must prove each of the following three elements by clear and convincing evidence:

a. (Respondent) has been convicted of a sexually violent offense; and,

b. (Respondent) suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder; and

c. The mental abnormality or personality disorder makes him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.

A sexually violent offense is: [as defined in § 394.912(9), Fla. Stat. (1999)] . . .

"Mental abnormality" means a mental condition affecting a person's emotional or volitional capacity which predisposes the person to commit sexually violent offenses.

"Likely to engage in acts of sexual violence" means a person's propensity to commit acts of sexual violence is of such a degree as to pose a menace to the health and safety of others.

The majority opinion in <u>Hendricks</u>, states in clear and unambiguous language that the constitutionality of the commitment procedure created by the Act depends on its application being limited to persons who cannot control their dangerous behavior. Hendricks admitted that he had repeatedly sexually abused children and that he was unable to control the urge to do so. 521 U.S. at 355, 360. On appeal from his commitment proceeding, the Supreme Court of Kansas invalidated the Kansas statute on the ground that it did not predicate commitment on a finding of mental illness, which the Kansas court held to be a requirement of substantive due process. <u>In</u> <u>re: Care & Treatment of Hendricks</u>, 259 Kan. 246, 912 P.2d 129 (1996). The U.S. Supreme Court granted certiorari on the State's petition to consider the due process issue as well as on Hendricks's cross-petition to consider his federal ex post facto and double jeopardy claims. 521 U.S. at 350.

Under a substantive due process analysis, the Supreme Court read a volitional impairment requirement into the Kansas statute as a condition of its constitutionality. The particular facts of Hendricks' case, including his conceding that he could not control his urge to sexually molest children, was at the core of the Supreme Court's opinion. The Court held that to be constitutional, a civil commitment must limit involuntary confinement to those "who suffer from a volitional impairment rendering them dangerous beyond their control." 521 U.S. at 358. The court held that the Kansas statute set forth criteria to make such a finding by linking future dangerousness to a

"mental abnormality" or "personality disorder" that "makes it difficult, if not impossible," to control such behavior. 521 U.S. at 358. Hendricks met that criteria by being diagnosed as a person who could not control his urge to molest children.

The Supreme Court rejected the Kansas Supreme Court's requirement of a finding of mental illness in order to override an individual's constitutionally protected liberty interest. 521 U.S. at 356-360. The Court catalogued constitutionally permissible instances in which "States have in certain narrow circumstances provided for the forcible civil detainment of people who are <u>unable to control their behavior</u> and who thereby pose a danger to the public health and safety." [Emphasis added.] 521 U.S. at 357. The Court noted the typical state statute's linking of a finding of dangerousness with an additional factor, such as mental illness, in the Court's analysis of the Kansas Act's conformance to the pattern:

These added statutory requirements serve to limit involuntary civil confinement <u>to those who suffer from</u> <u>a volitional impairment rendering them dangerous</u> <u>beyond their control</u>. The Kansas Act is plainly of a kind with these other civil commitment statutes: It requires a finding of future dangerousness, and then links that finding to the existence of a "mental abnormality" or personality disorder" <u>that makes it</u> <u>difficult</u>, <u>if not impossible</u>, <u>for the person to</u> <u>control his dangerous behavior</u>. Kan. Stat. Ann. § 59-29a02(b) (1994). The precommitment requirement of a "mental abnormality" or "personality disorder" is consistent with the requirements of these other statutes that we have upheld in that it <u>narrows the</u>

class of persons eligible for confinement to those who are unable to control their dangerousness. [Emphasis added.]

521 U.S. at 358. The Supreme Court concluded:

To the extent that the civil commitment statutes we have considered set forth criteria relating to an individual's inability to control his dangerousness, the Kansas Act sets forth comparable criteria and Hendricks' condition doubtless satisfies those criteria. . . . Hendricks even conceded that, when he becomes "stressed out," he cannot "control the urge" to molest children. . . . This admitted lack of volitional control, coupled with a prediction of future dangerousness, adequately distinguishes Hendricks from other dangerous persons who are perhaps more properly dealt with exclusively through criminal proceedings. [Emphasis added.]

521 U.S. at 360.

The Supreme Court clearly held that it is not constitutionally permissible to commit a person as a violent sexual predator absent a showing that he is unable to control his dangerous behavior. The Court required a "lack of volitional control" to distinguish Hendricks from "other dangerous persons." 521 U.S. at 360. Thus the Court read a requirement of inability to control behavior into the Kansas statute in order to find it constitutional. The Court's opinion does not allow mere willful behavior or mental illness, without more, to be sufficient predicate for civil commitment.

In <u>Kansas v. Crane</u>, 122 S.Ct. 867 (2002), the Supreme Court has now ruled that the Constitution requires that there be a

separate finding of inability to control behavior or serious difficulty in controlling behavior. In other words, there must be some lack of control determination before one can be civilly committed. <u>See</u>, <u>also</u>, <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 825 So.2d 460 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2002). So without showing lack of volitional control, the proof of mental abnormality or personality disorder is constitutionally inadequate regardless of the danger.

In <u>Kansas v. Crane</u>, 534 U.S. 407, 122 S. Ct. 867, 870 (2002), the United States Supreme Court considered the constitutional importance of distinguishing a dangerous sexual offender subject to civil commitment from other dangerous persons who are perhaps more properly dealt with exclusively through criminal proceedings. The court held that there must be proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior. The proof, when viewed in light of such features of the case such as the nature of the psychiatric diagnosis and the severity of the mental abnormality itself, must be sufficient to distinguish the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him to civil commitment from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case. The Court clearly intended that trial courts

give a jury instruction encompassing that principle.<sup>1</sup> <u>Thomas v.</u> <u>Missouri</u>, 72 SW 3d 789 (Mo. 2002); <u>In re Detention of Barnes</u>, 658 N.W. 2d 98 (Iowa 2003).

In <u>Westerheide v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly, S866 (Fla. October 17, 2002), this Court considered how, in light of <u>Crane</u>,

<sup>1</sup>Counsel for Respondent suggests this Court adopt and issue the following jury instruction to be used by the trial court in these post sentence civil commitment cases:

This is a civil case filed by the petitioner, the State of Florida, against the Respondent. The State alleges the Respondent is a sexually violent predator and should be confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.

To prove the Respondent is a sexually violent predator, the State must prove each of the following four elements by clear and convincing evidence:

- Respondent has been convicted of a sexually violent offense; and
- b. Respondent suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder; and
- c. The mental abnormality of personality disorder causes Respondent to have serious difficulty in controlling his behavior, and when viewed in light of such features of the case as the nature of the psychiatric diagnosis, and the severity of the mental abnormalities itself, the mental abnormality or personality disorder must be sufficient to distinguish him from the dangerous recidivists convicted in the ordinary criminal cases, and
- d. The mental abnormality or personality disorder makes him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.

a trial court must instruct a jury in this type of civil commitment case. Three justices held that they did not find that <u>Crane</u> required a specific jury instruction, but rather; that there must be proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior in order to civilly commit an individual as a sexually violent predator. Three justices strongly disagreed and held, in accordance with <u>Crane</u>, that the jury instructions must contain clear guidance so that the jurors understand that they are deciding that the respondent is a dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him to civil commitment rather than a dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case. Justice Quince concurring only in the result with

Justices Harding, Wells and Lewis simply found that the state did demonstrate that Westerheide had serious difficulty in controlling his behavior but she did not address the propriety of the jury instructions at all. Thus, in <u>Westerheide</u>, this Court was equally divided in opinion as to the requirement of the jury instruction addressing proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior. Therefore, the majority opinion in <u>Westerheide</u> cannot be understood to resolve that issue.

The longstanding law in Florida is that when an appellate court is evenly divided, the decision of the lower court stands

affirmed. Powell v. Rodriguez, 200 So. 700 (Fla. 1939); Johnson v. Landefeld, 189 So. 2d 666 (Fla. 1939). However, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Westerheide did not address the issue of a jury instruction regarding serious difficulty in controlling behavior. The district court did consider the issue of proper jury instructions, but only in the context of the meaning of the word "likely". Thus, even if the Court could do away with a due process requirement imposed by the United States Supreme Court, the court did not do so in <u>Westerheide</u>. The 3-3 split opinion would have affirmed the holding of the district court had the district court ruled on the issue of serious difficulty in controlling behavior. However, the district court did not address that issue. Therefore, one cannot properly draw conclusions from Westerheide as to whether or not a jury instruction is required specifically addressing serious difficulty in controlling behavior.<sup>2</sup>

The decisions of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 825 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2002), <u>Converse v.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A number of appellate court judges around the state have expressed the view that the better practice would be to instruct the jury as to the element of serious difficulty in controlling behavior. <u>McQueen v. State</u>, 848 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003), Browning, J. dissenting); <u>Lee v. State</u>, 854 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2003), (Casanueva, J. concurring); <u>Gray v.</u> <u>State</u>, 854 So. 2d 709 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003), (Klein, J. concurring).

Dept. of Children and Families, 823 So. 2d 295 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2002) and White v. State, 826 So.2d 1043 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2002), comport with the due process requirement imposed by the United States Supreme Court. In <u>Hudson</u>, the Court agreed with the district court in <u>Westerheide</u> on the constitutionality of the statute, but held that "in light of the Crane holding, the State's proof was legally insufficient to satisfy the demands of substantive due process because the State presented no evidence Respondent's ability to control his dangerous regarding behavior". Hudson, 825 So. 2d at 471. In Converse, the Court held that the failure of the lower court to instruct the jury of such requirement was a denial of substantive due process which is fundamental error. Converse, 823 So. 2d at 297. In White, the Court specifically held that in Crane the Supreme Court had added a "fourth element of proof" under the Kansas Act; that the person has serious difficulty in controlling his or her The White court concluded that "as explained in behavior. Hudson, this fourth element of proof is likewise essential under the Florida Act. The appellant was therefore entitled to an instruction as to this element, and the trial court erred in refusing to give it."

Florida courts have long held that the failure to instruct the jury on every disputed element of a cause of action

impermissibly takes from the jury part of its essential function. A fair and impartial trial requires that one be accorded the right to have a court correctly and intelligently instruct the jury on the essential and material elements of the cause which must be proven by competent evidence. <u>Gerds v.</u> <u>State</u>, 64 So. 2d 915, 916 (Fla. 1953). Thus, in order to civilly commit a person as a sexually violent predator, a jury must be instructed as required by <u>Crane</u>. Nothing in <u>Westerheide</u> stands contrary to that requirement.

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